FILE COPY

III.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT6
VI.	STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION6
VII.	ARGUMENT6
	A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRMA IS ENTITLED TO USE A FIFTY (50)-FOOT ROAD EASEMENT FOR ANY AND ALL PURPOSES BASED UPON THE DOCUMENTS OF RECORD
	1. STANDARD OF REVIEW7
	2. BASED UPON THE TITLE DOCUMENTS OF RECORD, TRMA IS ENTITLED TO A TWELVE (12)-FOOT WIDE ROAD EASEMENT
	3. BASED UPON THE TITLE DOCUMENTS OR RECORD, TRMA IS ENTITLED TO A TWELVE (12)-FOOT WIDE ROAD EASEMENT FOR THE PURPOSES OF INGRESS AND EGRESS ONLY
	4. BASED UPON THE WIDTH AND SCOPE OF THE ROAD EASEMENT, THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CLARIFY THE JUDGMENT ORDER AND ENJOIN TRMA'S EXPANDED AND CLAIMED EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE LAKE AREA
	B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING TRMA BOTH PRELIMINARY AND PERMANENT INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND RELATED ATTORNEYS' FEES AS HEAVENER HAS NEVER OBSTRUCTED THE SUBJECT ROADWAY14
	1. STANDARD OF REVIEW14
	2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING TRMA A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION AS HEAVNER NEVER OBSTRUCTED THE ROADWAY14
	3. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A PERMANENT INJUNCTION AS HEAVNER NEVER OBSTRUCTED THE ROADWAY AND THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT HE PREVENTED TRMA

	AREA15
	C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT CERTAIN ACTIONS OF HEAVNER CONSTITUTED A PRIVATE NUISANCE, BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED DURING THE PROCEEDINGS AND THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD.
	1. STANDARD OF REVIEW16
	2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT HEAVNER'S ACTIONS, IN MAINTAINING, USING AND PROTECTING HIS PROPERTY, CONSTITUTED A PRIVATE NUISANCE AGAINST TRMA
	D. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AWARDING TRMA ATTORNEYS' FEES TOTALING \$20,331.82, BASED UPON THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD.
	1. STANDARD OF REVIEW
	2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTONEYS' FEES TO TRMA IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF \$20,331.82
VIII.	CONCLUSION
IX.	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

I.	<u>STATUTES</u>
	W.Va. Code § 7-12A-1 (2017)
	W.Va. Code § 11A-3-62 (2017)
	W.Va. Code § 11A-4-4 (2017)
II.	CASES
	Cottrell v. Nurnberger, 131 W.Va. 391, 47 S.E.2d 454 (1948)
	Heldreth v. Rahimian, 219 W.Va. 462 (2006)
	Hendricks v. Stalnaker, 181 W.Va. 31, 380 S.E.2d 198 (1989)16
	Hennen v. Deveny, 71 W.Va. 629, 77 S.E.2d 142 (1913)12
	Hoffman v. Smith, 310 S.E.2d 216 (W.Va. 1983)11, 12
	Mace v. Ford Motor Co, 221 W.Va. 198, 653 S.E.2d 660 (2007)7
	Nicholas Loan & Mortg., Inc. v. W.Va. Coal Co-Op, Inc., 209 W.Va. 296, 547 S.E.2d 234 (2001)
	Nishanian v. Sirohi, 243 Va. 337, 414 S.E.2d 604 (1992)
	Public Citizen, Inc. v. First National Bank in Fairmont, 198 W.Va. 329 (1996)16
	Ransbach v. Harbin, 229 W.Va. 287 (2012)16
	Russakoff v. Scruggs, 241 Va. 135, 400 S.E.2d 529 (1991)
	Sanson v. Brandywine Homes, Inc., 215 W.Va. 307, 599 S.E.2d 730 (2004)17
	Semler v. Harley, 399 S.E.2d 54 (W.Va. 1990)
	State ex rel. E.I. Dupont De Nemours and Co. v. Hill, 214 W.Va. 760, 591 S.E.2d 318 (2003)

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRMA IS ENTITLED TO USE A FIFTY (50)-FOOT ROAD EASEMENT FOR ANY AND ALL PURPOSES BASED UPON THE TITLE DOCUMENTS OF RECORD.
- B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING TRMA BOTH PRELIMINARY AND PERMANENT INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND RELATED ATTORNEYS' FEES AS HEAVNER HAS NEVER OBSTRUCTED THE SUBJECT ROADWAY.
- C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT CERTAIN ACTIONS OF HEAVNER CONSTITUTED A PRIVATE NUISANCE, BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED DURING THE PROCEEDINGS AND THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD.
- D. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AWARDING TRMA ATTORNEYS' FEES TOTALING \$20,331.82, BASED UPON THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner and Defendant below, Robert Heavner ("Heavner"), acquired a parcel of real property by tax deed on July 23, 2014. JA 0045-0046. Neither the Respondent and Plaintiff below, Three Run Maintenance Association, Inc. ("TRMA"), nor any other interested party, petitioned to set aside the tax deed within the three (3)-year statute of limitation period set forth in W.Va. Code § 11A-4-4 (2017). Accordingly, Heavner is indeed the true and legal owner of the subject parcel. Heavner understood that he acquired said parcel subject to any rights of record, including an easement of ingress and egress for the members of TRMA. To that end, Heavner has never obstructed their rights of ingress and egress to their properties. The Circuit Court erred in expanding the use rights of record that the TMRA members are entitled to within the subject parcel. The Circuit Court further erred in finding the Heavner created a private nuisance, thereby penalizing Heavner for simply using and maintaining his lawfully-acquired property.

On December 6, 2017, TRMA filed a Petition for Injunction to Enjoin the Right of Way Obstruction and Suit to Set Aside Respondent's Void Tax Deed. JA 0001-0056. As set forth in the Petition, TRMA is a maintenance association authorized by W.Va. Code § 7-12A-1,

et seq. (2017), formed and recognized on January 21, 2016. JA 0001; JA 0895-0908. TRMA purports to manage and control certain roads and common areas in the Three Run Acres and Three Run Woods subdivisions located in Berkeley County, West Virginia.¹

Homeowners in both Three Run Acres and Three Run Woods access their homes by turning off of Three Run Road in Bunker Hill and onto Aspen Drive, the only entry- and exit-way into both subdivisions. JA 0002. Once a homeowner turns onto Aspen Drive, they must cross over the Three Run Lake dam and Lake Area. *See* JA 0333, 0333A.² This Lake Area is the subject parcel in dispute herein and consists of 4.7283 acres. JA 0045. Heavner unequivocally acquired the Lake Area by tax deed dated July 23, 2014. *Id.* The access across the Lake Area is the subject easement in dispute.

TRMA's Petition sets forth three (3) Counts against Heavner. Count I claimed that the alleged actions of Heavner, namely those taken by him within the subject easement, constituted both a public and private nuisance. JA 005. Count II claimed that Heavner obstructed the subject easement and sought a preliminary injunction therefore. *Id.* Count III sought to set aside Heavner's tax deed as being both void and voidable under applicable law; specifically, that the Lake Area was common area or jointly-owned property and therefore not subject to taxation and that Heavner failed to notify all interested parties when he purchased the Lake Area by tax sale. *Id.*

Along with its Petition, TRMA filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction to Enjoin Obstruction to Subdivision Right of Way. JA 0057-0061. A hearing was held on this Motion on December 18, 2017. JA 0063-JA135. Following this hearing, the Circuit Court issued an Order Granting Preliminary Injunction, initially finding that TRMA was entitled to a fifty (50)-

¹ Three Run Acres and Three Run Woods are two (2) separately-developed subdivisions, having been platted separately (Three Run Acres in 1966 – JA 0331-0332; Three Run Woods in 1969 – 0333-0334), and having separate covenants and restrictions and association management until TRMA was formed in 2016. JA 0038-0039, 0041, 0052-0053, 0054, 0059-0061.

² Certain JA Exhibits has been designated with an "A" or "B" following the bates stamp. These Exhibits are enlarged versions of the designated Plats.

foot wide easement "for the purpose of constructing and maintaining road access," and finding that Heavner had obstructed that access, although absolutely no evidence was presented that confirmed that Heavner obstructed the road. JA 0136-JA 0138.

Thereafter, the Court entered a Bench Trial Scheduling Order. JA 0139-0141. Heavner filed an Answer to the Petition, contesting all allegations therein, and an initial Motion to Dismiss Count III – Setting Aside Respondent's Tax Deed. JA 0142-0148. Heavner argued that neither TRMA, nor any other interested party, filed an action to set aside the tax deed within the three (3)-year statute of limitations period set forth at W.Va. Code § 11A-4-4 (2017). This Motion was fully briefed by the parties.

TRMA then filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the Disputed 50 Foot Right Way, claiming that TRMA was unequivocally entitled to a fifty (50)-foot right of way across Heavner's property. JA 0210-0234. In response, Heavner argued that certain documents of record clearly raise disputed issues of fact regarding both the width and scope of use of TRMA's easement. Heavner further argued that certain discovery should be conducted to property evaluate these issues. JA 0235-0241. This Motion was fully briefed by the parties.

Upon review of both Motions, the Court entered an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Count III and Granting in Part Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. JA 0262-0268. The Circuit Court found that it was inappropriate to dismiss Count III of the Petition, as TRMA alleged that Heavner's deed was both void and voidable, and if void, such a claim would not be barred by the three (3)-year statute of limitations period. *Id.* The Circuit Court further determined, despite clear evidence in title documents of record to the contrary, that TRMA "possesses a 50-foot 'road easement' in Defendant's property as described in the 1969 Plat and that the easement may be used for constructing and maintaining road access." *Id* at JA 0267.

On January 17, 2018, TRMA filed a Petition for Rule to Show Cause, claiming that Heavner had not complied with the previous Order Granting Preliminary Injunction. JA 0269-0277. Although Heavner believed that he had indeed complied with said Order, he then took steps to absolutely ensure that complied with the same, rendering a hearing on TRMA's Motion unnecessary. JA 0280-0281. TRMA filed a related Motion for Attorney Fees, that was thereafter fully brief by the parties. JA 0284-0299. Despite that fact that Heavner had complied with previous Orders, the Circuit Court again ruled in favor of TRMA, awarding fees in the amount of \$1,350.00. JA 0300-0305.

After deposing TRMA's president, Christopher Loizos, and thoroughly examining all relevant title documents of record, Heavner moved the Circuit Court for summary judgment on all remaining issues, to include a reconsideration request on the Circuit Court's prior ruling regarding the width and scope of TRMA's easement. JA 0312-0542. Heavner supplemented this Motion with several pertinent deeds of record, relevant to properly defining the width and scope of TRMA's easement. JA 0543-0556. This Motion was fully briefed. The Circuit Court, without permitting the benefit of a reply brief, entered an Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, stating that it was not persuaded to change its position on width and scope of TRMA's easement and citing that factual development was necessary on the remaining issues in the case. JA 0569-0572.

A bench trial was held on May 24, 2018. JA 0599-0678. Testimony was presented by Brent Hall, II, Vice President of the TRMA, and Christopher Loizos. JA 0609-0668. TRMA offered five (5) Exhibits into evidence.³ Joint Exhibits 1-19 were offered by the parties and admitted into evidence. JA 0679-0933. The parties were ordered to and did submit proposed orders or findings of fact and conclusions of law. JA 0934-0961.

³ Upon completion of Petitioner's Brief, counsel realized that he inadvertently did not include TRMA's Trial Exhibits 1-5 in the Joint Appendix. Counsel will file a Supplemental Joint Appendix this week, containing these documents, to be used by the Respondent and Petitioner in any subsequent briefings.

On July 3, 2019, the Circuit Court entered the final Judgment Order. JA 0962-0973. Heavner prevailed on many of the issues presented at the bench trial. First, the Circuit Court determined that Heavner's tax deed was not void as a matter of law. JA 0968. Second, the Circuit Court found that Heavner's tax deed was not voidable as a matter of law as any such claim was barred by the applicable statute of limitations. JA 0973. Based upon these findings, it is undisputed that Heavner was and remains the true legal owner of the Lake Area. The Court further found that Heavner's actions, in maintaining and using his land, did not constitute a public nuisance. JA 0970.

Despite these findings, the Circuit Court further found that Heavner's actions, in maintaining and using his land, did constitute a private nuisance. JA 0971. This finding is not supported by the weight of the evidence. Accordingly, the Circuit Court ordered that an award of attorney's fees was appropriate. JA 0971. The Circuit Court issued a permanent injunction "forever enjoining Defendant from interfering with the right of the Three Run lot owners, and their guests, to access, use, and enjoy the Three Run Lake area and any other area identified on the 1969 Plat as a jointly owned premises." JA 0972. This finding was made despite its earlier ruling limiting TRMA's use of the easement to "constructing and maintaining road access." JA 0267. This finding was made despite clear title documents of record to the contrary.

After the final Judgment Order was issued, counsel for TRMA advised that his client now has "the exclusive use and enjoyment" of the Lake Area. JA 0986. It is quite clear that the Judgment Order does not grant TRMA such "exclusive use." TRMA agents then placed "No Trespassing" signs and other impediments in the easement area. In response, Heavner filed both a Motion for Clarification of Judgment Order and Motion for Injunctive Relief. JA 0974-0987. The Circuit Court summarily denied both Motions without complete briefing or hearing. JA 0976, 0988-0999.

TRMA submitted a Motion for Award and Declaration of Attorney Fees. JA 0990-0998. This Motion was fully briefed by the parties, and a *Pitrolo* hearing was held by the Court. JA 0999-1008. TRMA was ordered to and did submit a Detailed Accounting Statement for fees and costs expended.⁴ JA 1009-1062. Although slightly reduced, the Circuit Court ultimately awarded fees to TRMA in the amount of \$18,891.82. JA 1067-1071.

The Orders of the Circuit Court are inconsistent. The Circuit Court erred in determining that TRMA is entitled to a fifty (50)-foot easement, for essentially any and all purposes. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the actions of Heavner, in simply maintaining and using his property, constituted a private nuisance. The Circuit Court erred in awarding TRMA attorneys' fees in the total amount of \$20,241.82, notwithstanding the fact that Heavner prevailed on many of the asserted claims.

For all these reasons, Heavner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the noted decisions of the Circuit Court.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Orders of the Circuit Court are inconsistent. The Circuit Court erred in determining that TRMA is entitled to a fifty (50)-foot easement, for essentially any and all purposes. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the actions of Heavner, in simply maintaining and using his property, constituted a private nuisance. The Circuit Court erred in awarding TRMA attorneys' fees in the total amount of \$20,241.82, notwithstanding that Heavner prevailed on many of the asserted claims.

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner believes that oral argument will assist the Honorable Court in properly reviewing this matter.

VII. ARGUMENT

⁴ The Detailed Accounting Statements at JA 1009-1062 were filed under seal in the Circuit Court and therefore should be filed under seal in this proceeding.

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRMA IS ENTITLED TO USE A FIFTY (50)-FOOT ROAD EASEMENT FOR ANY AND ALL PURPOSES BASED UPON THE DOCUMENTS OF RECORD.

The Circuit Court erred in granting TRMA initial partial summary judgment and finding that TRMA is entitled to a fifty (50)-foot road easement "for the purpose of constructing and maintaining road access." JA 0267. The Circuit Court further erred in granting judgment in favor or TRMA and later finding that TRMA is entitled to a fifty (50)-foot easement for "lot owners, and their guests, to access, use, and enjoy the Three Run Lake area and any other area identified on the 1969 plat as a jointly owned premises." JA 0972-0973. These holdings are inconsistent. More importantly, these holdings are not supported by the evidence, namely, the title documents of record.

1. Standard of Review

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*." *Mace v. Ford Motor Co.*, 221 W.Va. 198, 653 S.E.2d 660 (2007). "When the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, the Supreme Court of Appeals applies a *de novo* standard of review." *Nicholas Loan & Mortg., Inc. v. W.Va. Coal Co-Op, Inc.*, 209 W.Va. 296, 547 S.E.2d 234 (2001).

2. Based upon the title documents of record, TRMA is entitled to a twelve (12)-foot wide road easement.

W.Va. Code § 11A-3-62 (2017) provides as follows:

- §11A-3-62. Title acquired by individual purchaser.
- (a) Whenever the purchaser of any tax lien on any real estate sold at a tax sale, his heirs or assigns, shall have obtained a deed for such real estate from the deputy commissioner or from a commissioner appointed to make the deed, he or they shall thereby acquire all such right, title and interest, in and to the real estate, as was, at the time of the execution and delivery of the deed, vested in or held by any person who was entitled to redeem, unless such person is one who, being required by law to have his interest separately assessed and taxed, has done so and has paid all the taxes due thereon, or unless the rights of such person are expressly saved by the provisions of section forty-nine of this article or section two, three, four or six, article four of this chapter.

The tax deed shall be conclusive evidence of the acquisition of such title. If the property was sold for nonpayment of taxes, the title so acquired shall relate back to the first day of July of the year in which the taxes, for nonpayment of which the real estate was sold, were assessed. If the property was sold for nonentry pursuant to section thirteen of this article, or escheated to the state, or is waste and unappropriated property, the title shall relate back to the date of sale.

(b) Any individual purchaser to whom a tax deed has been issued may institute and prosecute actions to quiet title in any such real estate conveyed thereby. Such action may be maintained for all or any one or more of the lots or tracts conveyed.

Heavner unequivocally acquired the subject Lake Area by tax deed dated July 23, 2014. JA 0045. Neither TRMA, nor any other interested party, moved to set aside the tax deed within the required three (3)-year statute of limitations. *See* W.Va. Code § 11A-4-4 (2017). The Circuit Court found, and TRMA did not appeal, that Heavner's deed was neither void nor voidable. JA 0062-0973. Accordingly, Heavner is the true and legal owner of the Lake Area.

As confirmed in W.Va. Code §11A-3-62, Heavner acquired all such rights, title and interest to the Lake Area, as was, at the time of the execution and delivery of the deed. Heavner understands, and has never contested, that TRMA and its members have the benefit of an easement across his property for ingress and egress purposes only. However, both the width and scope of the easement are limited by the express provisions of the title documents of record. Indeed, the Circuit Court relied upon the applicable plats and deeds in making its determination, and TRMA did not present sufficient evidence that it was otherwise entitled to an expanded easement by implication, estoppel, prescription or otherwise. Based upon the express provisions of the applicable deeds and plats, TRMA is entitled to a twelve (12)-foot road easement. The Circuit Court erred in expanding the width of the easement to fifty (50)-feet.

Title documents of record suggest, and TRMA has confirmed, that the Three Run development consists of two (2) separately-developed sections: Three Run Acres and Three Run Woods. Indeed, Three Run Acres was platted and approved in 1966. JA 0331, 0331A. Three Run Woods was platted and approved in 1969. JA 0333, 0333A. As set forth on the 1966 Plat, the "Dam Roadway" is shown as being "12' Wide." The Deed conveying certain property

(Three Run Acres) from McDonald to Radin, dated July 16, 1969, does not contain any express language regarding the Dam Roadway. JA 0335. This Deed does, however, incorporate a Plat that references a "30" Wide Roadway" that runs along the same course and direction as the Dam Roadway. JA 0338, 0338A.

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