FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA CASE NO. 18-1080

APR | 5 2019

Robert Heavner,

Petitioner, Respondent Below

v.

Three Run Maintenance Association, Inc.,
Respondent
Petitioner Below.

Appeal from Orders Entered by the Circuit Court of Berkeley County (Civil Action CC-02-2017-P-412)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Counsel for Respondent

Braun A. Hamstead, Esquire West Virginia State Bar ID No. 1568 HAMSTEAD & ASSOCIATES, L.C. 507 S. Fairfax Blvd. Charles Town, WV 25414 Phone: 304-725-1468

Fax: 304-725-1321

bhamstead@hamsteadandassociates.com

I.

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is unclear what Heavner means with his assertion that the circuit court's orders are inconsistent. Pet. Brief, p. 6. The circuit court has ordered that the Lake Recreation Area, along with the road right-of-ways in the development, constitute common areas for the benefit of the lot owners and the court referred to them as "jointly owned premises." *See* court's final order, JA 0970-0972. Therefore, regardless of any claim to separate ownership of the fee under the entry road, the lot owners have the right to park along the sides of the 20-foot-wide paved entry road. Likewise, the lot owners, acting by and through their Maintenance Association are vested with authority to permit school buses to park and safely load and unload school children there.

At best, Heavner's deed vested him with the title of a defunct developer who sold off all interests in a subdivision and retains nothing. Standing in the shoes of the Radins, who recorded a 1969 plat depicting a 50' right-of-way on the roads of this development, Heavner is now estopped from denying the lot owners their rights. *Syl. Pts. 2, 3, Cook v. Totten,* 49 W. Va. 177, 178, 38 S.E. 491, 491 (1901); *Sly. Pt. 2, Elkins v. Donohoe*, 74 W. Va. 335, 81 S.E. 1130 (1914). It is uncontested that: 1) the dedicated easements included the **entire** dam area over which the entry road crosses, and 2) at least some of the Three Run Woods lot owners purchased under the 1969 plat depicting the subdivision roads as 50' in width, as did Heavner. Therefore, Heavner is estopped by deed from interfering in any way with the free use and enjoyment by TRMA's members across and over the only means of access to their lots over the dam. He is further estopped by virtue of his deed from interfering in any way with TRMA's possession and

management of the Lake and Recreation common area which was dedicated to members prior to Heavner's \$25.00 phantom deed.

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

TRMA suggests that this may be a case appropriate for oral argument under Rule 20 of the R.A.P. as it involves issues of first impression and fundamental public importance.

VII. ARGUMENT: RESPONSE TO ASSIGNED ERRORS

- A. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT TRMA POSSESSED A FIFTY (50) FOOT ACCESS EASEMENT SINCE HEAVNER DOES NOT DISPUTE THAT THE ENTIRE DAM AND RECREATIONAL AREA OVER WHICH THE ROADWAY RUNS IS A "COMMON AREA" AND ALL ROADS IN THREE RUN WOODS ARE DESIGNATED AS 50 FEET IN WIDTH IN THE PLAT UNDER WHICH HE CLAIMS TITLE.
 - 1. TRMA Does Not Disagree with Heavner's Standard of Review.
 - 2. In Accord with Heavner's Cited Reference to W. Va. Code § 11A-3-62, Heavner's Title to the Lake Area is, at Best, Fee Ownership Under a Private Common Area That is Dedicated to the Exclusive Use and Enjoyment of the Members of TRMA who Maintain and Control it By and Through Their Association.

Heavner only acquired the title held by L &L Corporation which was subject to such rights as remained with the lot owners of the combined Three Run Woods development. W. Va. Code § 11A-3-62. Heavner does not dispute that the Lake and Recreation Area is a common area as determined by the circuit court. JA 0977. Therefore, it was a common area when Heavner obtained his \$25.00 phantom deed to it from the Deputy Tax Commissioner. To the extent that the common area lot owner rights remained titled to the developer in its fiduciary capacity, TRMA became vested with those rights after it was duly authorized to take title by the County Council of Berkeley County by Order entered January 21, 2016. *See* Deed to TRMA, JA 0498. The approved Three Run maintenance Association Document, dated August 1, 2015, reads, in pertinent part: "The objects for which this Maintenance Association... is formed are as

follows: ...(2) To take title to and own, in fee simple, the common areas within the development." JA 0013. By deed, TRMA acquired such fiduciary interests in the common areas as remained with the successors to the developers on August 11, 2017. JA 0498.

Heavner suggests that the development is accessed by a "12' right-of-way" (Pet. Brief, p. 8) but the older plat designation refers to a "12' roadway." Emphasis added. The plat simply implies that the road over the dam is maintained with a surfaced width of 12' width. It is undisputed that the paved portion used at the time of Heavner's claim to possession was 20' in width. It is also undisputed that the members of the Association used the entry way to the full extent of its width over the dam for some 30 years prior to Heavner's arrival without interruption. Heavner asserts that the 1969 plat could not establish the ultimate width of the subdivision easements as 50', but the deeds to the lot owners expressly reserved to the developers the right to modify the covenants. This right was exercised through the covenant contained in paragraph (11) of the Radin deeds declaring the "...lakes, ponds, parking areas, picnic areas... the joint property of all of the lot owners...." See e.g. JA 0026. Therefore, Heavner's claim to exclusive use and possession of the dam beyond the 12' (or 30' width depending on which he may ultimately claim) is but evidence of a disingenuous and meritless claim which has thus far failed to extort money from TRMA and its members.

As noted above, Heavner indicates that he may wish to choose a "30' Wide Roadway" theory instead of a 12' wide roadway. *See* Pet. Brief, at p. 9, referring to "...additional evidence obtained through discovery...", at p. 10 referring to a "30' wide roadway" over the same area described as a 12' roadway from which Heavner concludes the **right-of-way** over the dam is 12' in width. The result is an admission by Heavner that he violated the easement when he blocked off all but the 20' wide paved road. No matter which theory Heavner goes with, his discrepant

references merely substantiate the point that the dam was a dedicated common area over which a roadway was to exist. Heavner fails (or simply purposely refuses) to acknowledge the distinction between the width of a road and the dimensions of a common area. TRMA's members are entitled to use the entire dimension of the dam area which includes the road and both sides of the road. As is set forth in the next section, specific uses include reasonable and convenient parking.

3. Heavner Lacks Standing to Object to TRMA's Proper Use of its Easements for Parking.

Heavner appears to alternatively argue, that regardless of the width of TRMA's road easements, its members can only travel over it. Heavner professes to believe that the words on the 1969 plat depicting the 50' right-of-way for "constructing and maintaining road access" means that the residents of the development cannot "...park or stand their vehicles in the easement during inclement weather to drop off or pick up children for (sic) the school bus." Pet. Brief, p. 12. He sardonically suggests that "TRMA's use of the road easement should be limited to ingress and egress only," meaning there may be no parking on it. *Id.* Heavner is wrong as to both the law of road easements and wrong for attempting to insert his view into the matter over which he lacks standing.

As is pointed out, *supra*, Heavner lacks standing to object to TRMA's use of its common areas. At best, he stands in the shoes of a developer who has no interest in the development.⁵

Apparently, Heavner would propose that the residents of the multitude of private communities around our State are not permitted to park along their wide streets. On the contrary, the rights of ways in Three Run Woods are there for the use of all residents. They may use the road rights of

⁵ In fact, it could be reasonably argued that, as successor developer vested with bare legal title to the common areas, he is obligated to convey them to the Maintenance Association.

ways for parking provided that they do not unreasonably interfere with the use of others. *See Erhard v. Helmick*, No. 11-1595, 2012 W. Va. LEXIS 735 (Oct. 19, 2012) memorandum decision in which this Court found that a road, intended for the use of a party, "...naturally allows them the right to park vehicles on the road in such a way as to not block the vehicular traffic on that twenty-foot wide road. *Id*, at 0739.

None of the cases cited by Heavner support his "no parking allowed" position. In *Cottrell v. Nurnberger*, 131 W. Va. 391, 392, 47 S.E.2d 454 (1948), (cited at p. 11) the Court simply held that an easement could not be created by an oral promise. TRMA makes no such claim.

Russakoff v. Scruggs, 241 Va. 135, 137, 400 S.E.2d 529, 530 (1991) (cited also at p. 11) is entirely consistent with TRMA's claims. In *Russakoff*, as in the case at bar, the lake area was a servient tract once part of a single tract with the dominant lots of the plaintiffs who claimed an easement over the lake. The plaintiffs had used the lake openly and continuously and demonstrated that there was a legitimate expectation on the part of plaintiffs of the right to access and use of the lake. Therefore, the court found they enjoyed an easement on the lake.

Heavner cites *Hoffman v. Smith*, 172 W. Va. 698, 310 S.E.2d 216 (1983) (at p. 12) for the proposition that an express easement is limited to the "terms and purposes of the grant." In *Hoffman*, cattle gates were to be maintained and kept closed according to the easement. Therefore, the owner of the dominant tract was not permitted to remove the gates. No gates or obstructions existed on TRMA's right-of-way prior to Heavner's arrival, only thereafter by Heavner's illicit doing. *Nishanian v. Sirohi*, 243 Va. 337, 338, 414 S.E.2d 604, 605 (1992) (cited at p. 12) involved the use of a driveway right-of-way. However, the issue was not the related use of the driveway for parking. Prohibited, was the construction of four brick driveway

columns in the private road. Again, the TRMA has not placed obstructions in the right-of-way, but Heavner has.

Likewise, in *Semler v. Hartley*, 184 W. Va. 24, 25, 399 S.E.2d 54, 55 (1990) (cited by Heavner at p. 12), the dominant owners' predecessor in title had obtained a 30-foot wide right-of-way over the servient estate but the servient owners erected an 11 1/2 foot-wide gate across the right-of-way. The court held that the obstruction was not permitted as has the circuit court in the case at bar. *Semler* supports TRMA, not Heavner.

Finally, Heavner unexplainably cites *Hennen v. Deveny*, 71 W. Va. 629, 630, 77 S.E. 142, 142 (1913) for the proposition that, absent ambiguity, the court must look to the words of the easement to determine its extent. The easement in *Hennen* was a 10-foot set back from a church to provide it with light and air. The easement was enforced in favor of its dominant owner as has the circuit court below in the case at bar.

None of Heavner's cited cases enrich his spurious claim. It is nonetheless interesting to note the distinction between a servient owner (or dominant owner) who retains a stake in his continued vested rights (as in his cited cases) and Heavner, who stands in the shoes of a defunct and departed servient developer. By the year 1979, when the Radins signed a deed to any "remaining residue" of their lots under which Heavner's title claim is derived (JA 180), the developers had no remaining interest in the development. They had no remaining stake in any of the real estate. Their acquisition of the land had been to develop it and move on. Heavner cannot cite a single case with similar facts. It is submitted that no case like the one before this Court can be found (or ever should be). That is because Heavner's interests in his \$25.00 deed have nothing to do with the ownership of real estate and everything to do with his lemon tree "pain in the backside" gift and his perverse compulsion to prove his ability to "win." This

litigation is about Heavner's bitterness over his failure to extort money from a vulnerable lot owners maintenance association which he now seeks to further deplete of all of its future limited revenue in this vexatious litigation. *See* unrebutted testimony, JA 0616.

4. Heavner's Motion for Clarification of Order and Spurious Motion for Injunctive Relief Filed Subsequent to the Close of the Circuit Court Proceedings are Not the Proper Subject of This Appeal.

Final judgment was entered by the circuit court on July 3, 2018. On July 31, 2018, outside the time for filing a Rule 59 Motion, Heavner filed "Defendant's Motion For Clarification Of Judgment Order." JA 0974. Heavner's complaint was that "Plaintiff believes that it has the exclusive right to use and enjoy the subject Lake Area." Id. In its Order denying the Motion, the trial court found that Heavner did not "...identify what language in the order ... requires clarification." Aside from the procedural irregularity of Heavner's Motion, a reasonable reading of the court's order is that the court intended that TRMA would have exclusive use and possession of the Lake Area. The court expressly held that it was a "common area available for the use and enjoyment of all Three Run lot owners and their guests." JA 0970-0971. The trial court specifically held that Heavner's title was based on the plats of record, derived from L & L Corporation (which took title from the Radins whose plat designated the Lake as common area for the lot owners). Id. It stands to reason that, since the Radins reserved no future development rights and had divested themselves of any and all ownership in the development, they would have no further right to use the Lake Area and therefore Heavner would have no such right. The trial court concluded that Heavner had stated no grounds for relief nor were any supporting authorities set forth in his Motion For Clarification. JA 0976.

Yet the circuit court denied the Motion without prejudice. *Id.* Despite the court's clear invitation, Heavner took no action to provide the court with a rule compliant motion stating why he believed TRMA was not entitled to exclusive use and possession of the Lake Area.

Instead, on August 16, 2018, Heavner filed a second spurious motion titled "Motion For Injunctive Relief" in proceedings which already were closed, saving and excepting disposition of the issue of attorney fees. Since no complaint was pending before the court, the trial court denied the Motion. The court also noted that "...Defendant's motion does not and indeed cannot cite to any provision of the current final order which is violated." JA 0988.

Nonetheless, neither of Heavner's post final judgment motions were denied with prejudice. Neither are the proper subject of appeal because neither were properly brought before the trial court for adjudication. Therefore, the subject matter of the motions has not been decided on the merits and is not ripe for appeal. *Coleman v. Sopher*, 194 W. Va. 90, 94, 459 S.E.2d 367, 371 (1995).

- B. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED THE INJUNCTION SINCE HEAVNER HAD VINDICTIVELY PLACED BARRIERS ALONG THE SIDES OF THE SUBDIVISION ENTRY ROAD, DELIBERATELY BLOCKING OFF-HIGHWAY LOADING AND UNLOADING AND FORCING SCHOOL CHILDREN TO CROSS A DANGEROUS BACK ROAD IN ORDER TO ACCESS THEIR SCHOOL BUS.
 - 1. TRMA Does Not Disagree with Heavner's Standard of Review Statement.
 - 2. The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Granting TRMA a Preliminary Injunction.

Heavner effectively concedes to the appropriateness of injunctive relief issued against him. Heavner does not contest that TRMA is entitled to use of the Lake Recreation Area as a common area over which the subdivision access road runs. In fact, as a claimed successor to the developers who created the easement, he is legally and factually estopped from denying the existence of the common area easement. *See* authority and cases cited by Heavner, at Pet Brief pp. 11-12. Therefore, TRMA has the right to park on the sides of the entry road crossing the Lake Recreation common area. Accordingly, TRMA has the right to an injunction against Heavner's continued insistence that he may obstruct TRMA's use of the sides of the entry road.

This entry road is a road situate on the common area and the common area may be used by TRMA's members as deemed convenient and necessary for the safety, welare and convenience of the residents and their school children.

Moreover, as is pointed out *supra*, Heavner's 12-foot claim is but the sham foundation used by him in his extortion ploy. As the trial court noted (*see* JA 0266-0267, 0972-0973), Heavner's (alleged) title claim is based on reference to a plat designating the subdivision right-of-ways as 50 feet in width. If Heavner owns anything, he owns what is leftover by a successor developer with no development rights. As such, he is legally estopped from denying the validity of the court order which enjoins him from blocking the entry road and interfering with TRMA's members' use of any portion of the common area of the dam where the road crosses. *See Elkins v. Donohoe*, 74 W. Va. 335, 335, 81 S.E. 1130, 1130 (1914).

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